M eeting of the
Prairie M eadows Racetrack and Casino
Board of Directors
July 23, 2008
2:00 p.m.

The Monthly Meeting of the PMRC Board of Directors wa#led to order by Jack Peters
in the James Rasmussen Board Room at Prairie Meadofana, lowa at 2:05 p.m.
Mr. Peters noted that Mr. Bishop is not feeling wetlap and will join the meeting via

conference call.

Roll Call.

Bob Beattie Lynette Rasmussen
Don Brown Sunnie Richer
Perry Chapin Jodi Urich

Michael Galloway Tom Whitney
Nolden Gentry Paul Hayes

Ron Morden Randy Minear
Gerard Neugent Jack Bishop

Jack Peters

Also in attendance were

Gary Palmer, President/CEO

Ann Atkin, Vice President of Operations
Tom Flynn, Legal Counsel

Nancy Winget, Its Recording Secretary
Members of the Press, Public, and Staff

Approval of the Minutes A motion was made by Mr. Morden to approve the Minofies
the monthly meeting of the Prairie Meadows Board oé&mrs held on June 25, 2008 as
written. The motion was seconded by Mr. Chapin andepass a voice vote.

Public Comment None

Financials Mr. Palmer reviewed the June 2008 YTD financials: Revenue above
plan .2%; Total Expenses below plan 3%; Net Income be@wmmunity Betterment
above plan 14.9%. Mr. Palmer said we had exciting things gwirigst week with the
Flood Relief Concert, Heart Concert, and the Camedl @strich Races. Mr. Palmer
reviewed the following graphs: 1). First Six Months Castavenue, 2005 through 2008;
2). Net Win Change vs. Attendance Change YTD June 2008 vs. XihB 2007 (PM
revenue is up $4.2 million and attendance is down 18,000; Horsesheraie is up $2.6
million and attendance is down 175,000; Harrah's revenue is d&iwh million and
attendance is down 175,000; Ameristar revenue is up $1.9 millidnattendance is
down 53,000; Terrible’s revenue is down $2 million and attendasndewn 95,186); 3).
Slot hold % - select lowa casinos June 2008 and YTD 2008 Pdimer said the team is
working hard to bring in business and reviewed slides bflaeks events, noting the



PMRC Board Meeting — July 23, 2008

Flood Relief concert brought in over $600,000 including the Imfaton the County, and
thanked the Board for allowing the team to host thefiiene

Jeff Nelson, Director of Marketing, said the team patFlood Relief Concert together in
three weeks; received $80,000 in corporate sponsorships; $177,000tisdielse $5,000
from the money barrels; $12,000 in auction items; over 100 coepaarticipated;
approximately 9,000 attended the concert — it was a greatetibanty so far, we've raised
$600,000 which includes the County’s match and more money icatiling in; the
money will be funneled through the Foundation to Polk Cokitinan Services.

Mr. Beattie said the whole idea for the Flood Redi#brt started with the employees and
was pulled off by the employees — they worked hard. MrttBemoved that the Board
recognize their efforts and the motion was secondedrbZhapin.

Approve Bank Resolution to add Ann AtkirMr. Galloway said Ann Long needs to be
removed and Ann Atkin needs to be added to the bank documdnt&alloway moved
those items be approved, as well as noting that Elaaséeline, Director of Accounting,
be a contact to request and receive information. Theomatas seconded by Mr.
Morden and passed on a voice vote.

Approve City of Altoona Grant (Bass ProMr. Neugent said there were slight changes
made; the City has sold the bond; the agreement 8500,000 per year for eight years
with the intent of an additional $500,000 if there are avaldbhds; if a $30 million
hotel is built on our property, it goes away; if there $140 million increase in the TIF
district, it goes away; the first half payment wil lmade at the end of 2009; everything is
in full compliance with what has been discussed angliquely approved. Ms. Richer
asked about PM's total taxable and Jeff Mark, City dbéha Administrator, said $20
million; Mr. Neugent noted that is just PM’s componerthe big component is Bass Pro
and the bonds will carry. Mr. Neugent moved to apprdwe dgrant, the motion was
seconded by Mr. Galloway, and passed on a voice vote.

Mr. Mark thanked the Board and noted everyone is exeibedit the project; a “coming
soon” sign and construction trailer are on the site;vdll be moved in a few weeks; they
are working on Bass Pro Drive; August 2 is the expected cgzéning; PM will be
advised of groundbreaking ceremonies, etc.

Approve Human Resources Committee Recommendation fomntsact with Cliff's Edge
Strategies LLC Mr. Peters said this was discussed with the Exec@ommittee and
the recommendation is to refer it back to the Exeeu@ommittee to come up with a
process as this involves a long term business plan; wktoemme up with a system to
involve all committees; a large part of the plan isskoracing; we want to ensure
everyone has the ability to have input and make it be whatant it to be.




PMRC Board Meeting — July 23, 2008

Ms. Richer said there are two elements in the prdptigaHR Committee has met twice;
committee members are: Sunnie Richer, Nolden Gentny,NRwden, Paul Hayes, Perry
Chapin, Jack Bishop, Dan Byers and Ann Atkin participatedt] Gary Palmer was
apprised; the immediate issues are compensation and amtivecsystem for Gary
Palmer; the measurements and components are not defieedpproved system has a
narrow band for ratings and most is an automatic peagentalf of the proposal deals
with these issues and we want it in place for 2008.

Ms. Richer said the second piece is the Strategic Riaiave had one in place since the
beginning of the year, but a complete analysis, pmsitiand accountability is not
included. Ms. Richer said other Board members had the wnitgrto meet with CIiff
Gold and Mr. Gold understands the Strategic Plan pieceuéstion is what do we do
with the HR piece?

Ms. Richer suggested and moved splitting the proposas. Résmussen said if this
happens, she has questions; Mr. Peters said based on tbetiExeCommittee’s
discussion is the ability to get everyone up to speed\Wihitney suggested referring the
Strategic Plan to the Executive Committee to act aefef back to the HR Committee the
HR section or refer the entirety to the Executiver@uttee to decide. Mr. Galloway
said Mr. Gold did a great presentation and asked if thetkegompensation is the
Strategic Plan? Mr. Morden would like to separate thepigoes (the bonus piece falls
in the HR Committee) and have a recommendation to hgada independent of the
Strategic Plan piece. Mr. Peters said if it istsgplere are questions and we need to
decide to vote on Ms. Richer’'s recommendation or seta the Executive Committee.
Mr. Neugent said all are valid points — we need more inputhi® horse components —
compensation and appraisal are more time sensitive and ntlagbecommendation
could be for one section. Mr. Galloway said we’re ugh amning for this year and asked
what was the hurry; Ms. Richer said this would be in @lémr 2009 and could be
effective 1-1-09 and it would have been in place for thelevigear — Mr. Palmer’s piece
is separate and 2008 is done. Mr. Beattie suggested thEdiRnittee take it back and
come to the next meeting with a specific item that Ib@en sent out prior to the meeting
so the Board has time to review. Ms. Richer saidptbposal is written into two pieces,
along with separate pricing. Mr. Peters suggested Ms. Ritthéhe breakdown for the
HR section and the Board vote on it and send the long f#an to the Executive
Committee.

Ms. Richer moved to approve the HR portion with CGdifEdge Strategies to perform a
compensation evaluation and analysis effective for 2008 rfiotion was seconded by
Mr. Morden.

Discussion. Ms. Rasmussen asked about a dovetaiebptthe two pieces — there will
be less work without the Strategic Plan piece — whiitwa get and is there enough
framework? Mr. Whitney suggested doing this at the Augustingeetis there anything

critical that it must be done today? Mr. Peters gaids delayed, will the Horse



PMRC Board Meeting — July 23, 2008

Committee have time to review and Mr. Whitney said dhly HR piece if there is a
report in 30 days. Mr. Hayes believes Mr. Whitney’'s qoess an implementation issue
and Ms. Rasmussen’s question is a Strategic Plan ietesedthe evaluation system has
something to hold people accountable for — both are tiedh®ge Mr. Beattie asked
about the component if the proposal is split and Msh&isaid incentive, compensation,
and risks. Mr. Beattie asked about compensation andRMbker said it is defined — not
to exceed $35,000 — if we wait, it will be mid-Septembeoteefve can start and time is
short now; if we wait, the Board can't criticize mgeanent. Mr. Galloway had to leave
the meeting at 2:45 p.m..

Mr. Minear suggested using Mr. Palmer's piece as a téengta the rest of the
organization, but with department specifics; Ms. Richd&t Hze elements are from the
Strategic Plan; Mr. Minear asked if this is included in shepe for Mr. Gold to use to
develop the rest. Mr. Peters said without thet&gra Plan, it will detract from the
ability to do the compensation and bonus and Ms. Ricleiska didn’'t believe so.

Mr. Peters said there is a motion and a second thedblR piece. The motion carried on
a Roll Call Vote (8 yes, 4 no, 1 member absent).

Mr. Whitney moved the Strategic Plan section be refemettheé Executive Committee.
The motion was seconded and passed on a voice vote. BauBsen asked if Mr. Gold
would explain his philosophy to the Executive Committee andwWhitney said that can
be added.

Approve Hotel/Parking Lot Committee Recommendation fdfeasibility Study with
HVS. Mr. Neugent said the committee members are Gerry MéuBeb Beattie, Randy
Minear, Jodi Urich, Mike Galloway, with assistance frddn Wandro from Snyder and
Associates and Mr. Bishop, and the committee determivezd is a need for a marketing
and feasibility study before going forward with a hgtdn. Mr. Neugent said Mr.
Wandro has been a PM consultant on the most recerdtraction project and on
previous hotel discussions and has done due diligence in tngtadVS to do a
feasibility study, financial projections, and a marketdgt for a hotel; Mr. Wandro
recommended HVS to the Committee and the recommendatas presented to the
Finance Committee and then to the Executive Commitiee;cost is $30,000 plus
reimbursable costs to determine the product type, do a nstkey, and do financial
projections.

Mr. Neugent moved to engage HVS through Snyder and Assed@to the study based
on the proposal just reviewed. The motion was secobgédr. Morden. Mr. Whitney

asked if PM has officially retained Snyder and AssociatesMr. Neugent said Snyder
has an on-going consultant contract with PM. Mr. Wiyt asked the cost and Mr.
Neugent said it is an hourly rate and Mr. Sears, DirecfoLogistics, said he has a
requisition for $20,000. Mr. Whitney requested Mr. Palmepame an update on what
has been spent and the cap with Snyder and AssocMte€hapin asked how the hotel



PMRC Board Meeting — July 23, 2008

would be financed; Mr. Beattie said costs and altereativill be in the study; Mr.
Neugent said there are a lot of models and casinos in \aittahotels owned and
operated by independents and owned and operated by the casinare gathering
information to make a recommendation, and need to khitws economically viable to
do a hotel. Ms. Richer asked about HVS’s background and\Nkligent said HVS is a
San Francisco-based appraisal and financial corporatra@nhospitality and gaming
consultants and Mr. Wandro has the list of client$ has talked to several who spoke
highly of HVS. The motion passed on a voice vote.

General Manager’'s Report

Mr. Palmer reported that the horsemen have hired Richaatheimer to do a study and
would like him to give a report to the PMRC Board at its Aigueeting — the Executive
Committee has agreed and he would like Board approvad. Bblard concurred with the
request.

Mr. Palmer said the job search for a CFO will bediis tweekend and the Executive
Committee has recommended this be done as soon as @ossibl

Other Business

Mr. Whitney noted that the Horse Committee will maethe conclusion of the Board
Meeting and all Board members are welcome to attend basreers, but not as
participants.

Discuss Gary Palmer’s Performance Evaluation Critefids. Richer handed out and
reviewed the ? Draft and noted some elements were not defined for 2008niafon
from 2007 and the Strategic Plan was used to come up watipldm; Gary Palmer and
Dan Byers, Director of HR, have reviewed the plan; Hie¢ Committee has met twice
and exchanged e-mails; th& Draft was e-mailed to the Board a few days ago.

Page 1. Mr. Minear asked if 8% (1. a. revenue/income/egpetas enable charitable
mission) is judgmental and is it all or nothing or an 8% in that category and Ms.
Richer said the Committee decided this item should be judgineMr. Hayes said this
can't be tied to the bottom line due to IRS guidelines; ttecttive Committee does Mr.
Palmer’s review; and these are just some guidelineMfolPalmer and the committee.
Mr. Neugent asked if 1. b. should include maintenance anérpeg¢®n of the physical

plant and Mr. Hayes said that could fall under the immeletation of Capital

Expenditures. Ms. Rasmussen asked about the dollar artmuaduce horse racing
expenses in 1. b. iii.; Ms. Richer said the committeer’'tiknow what to put in that

blank; Mr. Whitney said we really don’'t know the negatnumbers and asked if Mr.
Palmer should receive a bonus on this item as itpeliay determination. The Board
decided to change 1. b. iii. to “maximize horse racing anfiglodity”.

Page 2. Mr. Morden noted that 6. a. (develop and promotel maxieg program that
would optimize the use of PMRC's allocated recoursesitd the promotion of PMRC



PMRC Board Meeting — July 23, 2008

racing program attendance and support of lowa agribusinessjilar to 1. b. iii. and
Mr. Hayes said this is for a future point.

Page 3. Ms. Richer said the Community Relations piegeisbility piece.

Mr. Hayes asked if Mr. Palmer would prepare his own repart for the Executive
Committee in November; Ms. Richer noted that Mr. Palneguested to meet with the
Executive Committee and then the full Board as pathefformal process; Mr. Gentry
said a document would be done that reflects the consenshs full Board and not 13
different documents. Mr. Flynn asked if the Commisgl®GC) should be included and
Ms. Richer said this could be added to the Community Raeksection.

Ms. Richer asked if this should be voted on. Ms. Rasemussked Mr. Palmer’s
thoughts and he noted it is nice to have a format tadged by and this is fair and has
subjectivity and objectivity.

Mr. Whitney asked why 1. b. i. has an emphasis on F&Ba® are a lot of departments
and is there criteria for all departments, breakeveghtmmot be the right word. Mr.
Morden said at the beginning of 2008, there was a conceut &&B and this could
change for 2009. Mr. Hayes noted the 2009 plan would be ¢geekla December. Mr.
Whitney asked that at the end of 2008, if F&B is breakdxgranother department is in
the red, what holds Mr. Palmer accountable and Mr. Radaid 1. a. Ms. Richer said 1.
b. lists the hot spots and noted Marketing will never peoéit center. Mr. Gentry said a
department could do well, but still be in the red, we ware objective and have been
too subjective in the past. Mr. Hayes suggested addingottar budget items within
x%”; Ms. Richer suggested “F&B to a profitable level aticother departments within a
reasonable range”; Mr. Morden said Marketing expenses &griained by Mr. Nelson
and he doesn’'t want a set percentage; Mr. Peters saiccdvexs this; Ms. Richer said
the intent of 1. b. i. was what the Board identifisdaaproblem area; Mr. Whitney likes
breakeven, not profitable and said departments have budgethwarchanges need to be
approved by the Board — spending to make money is a Boarhdeigon. Mr. Morden
asked if Mr. Palmer should be held accountable on atkme basis or in total — this is
micro-management — it should be ok as long as the tatgs stithin the budget. Mr.
Gentry would like to hear a plan to amend the budget. Rdimer said everything is
discussed with the Finance Committee every month akedaif all committees should
be eliminated and just report to the Board; Mr. Gentruld/dike a financial report to the
full Board. Ms. Rasmussen asked if it is feasiblart@nd the budget three to four times
a year and Mr. Bishop said the Board has two respoitisibit- budget and policy and
both are dealt with by the Board — the Executive Comaitseaware of Marketing's
spending. Mr. Neugent said holding to line items for a baswot proper, we need to
look at the overall; management should be able to teasituations; if there is a line
item problem, it should be highlighted for next year. Bishop said high numbers need
Board attention, most years we’'ve made more tharbtliget, and it is the Board’s
responsibility to be on top of.



PMRC Board Meeting — July 23, 2008

Mr. Minear asked if the Board owes Mr. Palmer a fdraaghorization to run the place
within this budget — there is a variety of opinions on aWeor line item or is this
something for the Finance Committee’s authorization?. Mrden said the Finance
Committee reviews the financials and variables araudsed with Mr. Palmer and staff;
if something is out of line, it is reported to the fubdd; if something is within the plan,
the Finance Committee isn’t too upset. Mr. Whitney ask®tt.iPalmer operates on the
basis that the object is the bottom line, the depattnogrthe line item and Mr. Palmer
said P&L meetings are held and looked at both ways — soeneming issues that catch
up later; he knows the total for the year and staff le¢gs by the month. Mr. Whitney
asked that at the end of twelve months, if PM is infiideincome and budget, but two
departments are in the red vs. the budget, is it succeasfubblem, or a failure? Mr.
Palmer said everyone would know before the end oy¢lae and it can be fixed — this is
our barometer and staff closely watches sales and resjenoeone knew the inflation
rate last year at budget time and we’re trying to figurehmyt to make the numbers;
staff will ask for an amendment if it is needed; wed&o be cautious as there’s a point
of diminishing return; the goal is to meet the budget,thate sometimes needs to be
adjustments; everything is reviewed with the Finance @ibt@e. Mr. Whitney asked
when staff would ask for the budget to be amended and &lmd? said for Marketing, it
could be the next month or so; details will be giventlie Finance Committee;
promotions are tracked; much of it is instinct and Mr.selknows the market and the
trends; some things like overtime can be controlledihmre is a reason, other things like
utilities can’'t be controlled and everyone understatiisdepartment heads know every
month what is going on and we’ve already had severatings to discuss the capital
items for the remainder of the year. Mr. Flynn offetieel following language for 1. a. i.
“F&B Department at a breakeven level and all other departs at levels acceptable to
the Board” — the Board agreed to this language. Ms. Rumflemake the changes
discussed today, send out the revised version, and thid Baavote on it next month.

Adjournment A motion was made by Mr. Neugent to adjourn the mgetiThe motion
was seconded by Ms. Rasmussen. There being no funiserebs, the meeting was
adjourned at 3:45 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Michael Galloway
Its Secretary



